IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-651

ERNEST WHITFIELD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, ET. AL.,

Appellee,

AMENDED BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JOHN W. JENNINGS
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
PETER J. CANNON
ASSISTANT CAPITAL COLLATERAL
COUNSEL
Fla. Bar No. 0109710
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813)740-3544
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Whitfield's Motion to Vacate Judgement and The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Sentence. Proc. 3.851. The Defendant filed a timely motion for postconviction relief in the Circuit Court of the Twelfth Judicial Circuit. The Court conducted a Huff hearing pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993), on November 20, 2002. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court determined that the Defendant was entitled to a hearing on claims I, II, III, IV, V, VII, XII, XIII, XIV, and XVI, and that the Court would hear argument only on claims VI, XV, XIX, and XX. Prior to the beginning of the evidentiary hearing on May 22, 2003, the Court granted counsel's motion to proceed with testimony as to claim VI..

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in the instant case:

"R." -- The record on direct appeal to this Court followed by the appropriate page number.

"PC-R." -- The post-conviction record on appeal followed by the appropriate page number.

"Order" - The lower court order denying postconviction relief.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

This is an appeal from the denial of postconviction relief in a capital case. This Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases in a similar posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument is necessary given the seriousness of the claims raised herein.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appropriate standard of review is *de novo* where the trial court has abused its discretion by basing its judgment on an erroneous view of the law. Further, all ineffective assistance of counsel issues raised herein are mixed questions of law and fact. Such matters require *de novo* review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 19, 1995, Mr. Whitfield was arrested for the murder Claretha Reynolds. A grand jury indicted Mr. Whitfield for first degree murder and subsequently charged by information for armed burglary and sexual battery with a deadly weapon. Mr. Whitfield was convicted on all counts. A penalty phase was conducted for the first degree murder conviction. Mr. Whitfield was sentenced to death by a jury vote of 7-5, one vote shy of a life sentence. This Court affirmed Mr. Whitfield's

convictions. Whitfield v. State, 706 So.2d 1 (1998).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

No constitutional right is celebrated so much in the abstract and observed so little in reality as the right to counsel. - Stephen Bright.

Ernest Whitfield was arrested and tried for first degree murder in 91 days, the same time it would take a court to adjudicate a traffic case. Mr. Whitfield's case was rushed to judgement because his attorneys completely abdicated their duty to advocate. Defense counsel did not conduct a meaningful investigation, lost crucial evidence that was available to them, and presented a defense that had no chance of prevailing. Worse yet, they failed to call lay witnesses and presented inaccurate information to the jury during the penalty phase hearing. As a result of counsel's deficient performance, the rights of Mr. Whitfield and the jury were violated.

Mr. Whitfield's case is a tragic example of bad judgement. His attorneys were highly trained and competent and had prevailed in trying cases with similar factual scenarios. Mr. Whitfield's attorneys knew the law in the area of death penalty litigation. However, in those 91 days, Mr. Whitfield's attorneys did not act as an attorney that is guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Mr. Whitfield's attorneys allowed their client

to dictate the strategy to be followed, which is reserved for the attorney. Both attorneys surrendered their duties to a man under the influence of chronic and sustained crack cocaine abuse, a man who his attorneys agreed suffered from a major mental disorder, and a man with low intelligence. Defense counsel allowed Mr. Whitfields to run the show and as a result of their inaction, Mr. Whitfield did not received the benefit of effective assistance of counsel.

At trial, this once Baker Act-ed mentally ill, brain damaged individual literally removed himself entirely from the trial and left the courtroom. See Whitfield v. State, 706 So.2d at 3-4. He attempted to discharge his attorneys. The trial court conducted both Nelson¹ and Faretta² inquiries. While the trial court found Mr. Whitfield's counsel competent, it recognized his right to represent himself regardless of the actions of his attorneys. The only hurdle in Mr. Whitfield's path was the Faretta inquiry. Mr. Whitfield failed the test. The trial court found that "he was not competent to represent himself", a fact this court recognized. Whitfield, 706 So.2d at 3. Whitfield stated that "he could not think rationally".

 $^{^{1}}$ Nelson v. State, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

² Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

Id. Thus, the trial court recognized what the post-conviction court did not: that Ernest Whitfield did not have the competence to direct the strategy in his case.

Nowhere in the lower court's fifty-eight page denial of post-conviction relief does it cite to the United States Supreme Court's seminal case of Wiggins v. Smith, 123 S.Ct 2527 (2003). This despite the fact that at every instance, at every opportunity counsel had to act as counsel, they failed to live up to the standards of Wiggins and the ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases (1989).

Further, the lower court's highly deferential standard when reviewing trial counsel's actions does not survive the mandate in Wiggins to "discover all reasonably available mitigating evidence and evidence to rebut any aggravating evidence that may be introduced by the prosecutor." Wiggins at 2537. Clearly, the lower court's interpretation and application of established United States Supreme Court and this Court's precedent is wrong.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ernest Whitfield did not receive the benefit of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Mr. Whitfield's trial counsel failed to properly investigate and present a defense of voluntary intoxication that

would have made him ineligible for the death penalty. Further, counsel abdicated their roles as lawyers when they allowed their client to demand speedy trial when it was obvious that the lawyers and witnesses were not ready for trial. Lastly, counsel failed to investigate and present the wealth of mitigation evidence that was easily available to them.

The most recent case on ineffective assistance, Wiggins v. Smith, 123 S.Ct. 2527(2003), the United States Supreme Court held by a 7-2 vote that counsel's investigation and presentation "fell short of the standards for capital defense work articulated by the American Bar Association ... standards to which we have long referred as 'guides to determining what is reasonable.' " 123 S.Ct. at 2536-37. In its discussion of the 1989 ABA Guidelines for counsel in capital cases, the Court held that the Guidelines set the applicable standards of performance for counsel:

[I]nvestigations into mitigating evidence "should comprise efforts to discover all reasonably available mitigating evidence and evidence to rebut any aggravating evidence that may be introduced by the prosecutor." ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases 11.4.1(C), p. 93 (1989).... Despite these well-defined norms, however, counsel abandoned their investigation of petitioner's background after having acquired only rudimentary knowledge of his history from a narrow set of sources.

Id. at 2537 (emphasis in original). The Court then also adopted

ABA guideline 11.8.6, which it described as stating:

that among the topics counsel should consider presenting are medical history, educational history, employment and training history, family and social history, prior adult and juvenile correctional experience, and religious and cultural influences.

Id. Thus, the Wiggins case now stands for the proposition that the ABA standards for counsel in death penalty cases provide the guiding rules and standards to be used in defining the "prevailing professional norms" in ineffective assistance cases.

Finally, prejudice has to evaluated in light of the advisory jury verdict of 7-5. This Court has, on several occasions, evaluated prejudice and related issues when the jury vote is 7 to 5. See Harris v. State, 843 So.2d 856 (Fla. 2003); Crook v. State, 813 So.2d 68 (Fla. 2002); Almeida v. State, 748 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1999); Phillips v. State, 608 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1992) In Phillips v. State, 608 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1992), this Court determined that the defendant was prejudiced by counsel's failure to present "strong mental mitigation" at trial. Id. at 783. In that case, two experts opined in the postconviction proceeding that the defendant was suffering from an extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the crime, was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of law, and could not form the requisite intent to fall under the aggravating factors of CCP or heinous, atrocious, or cruel. See id. Also important

this Court's analysis of that case was the fact that the mental mitigation was essentially unrebutted and that the jury had recommended the death sentence by the slim majority of seven to five. See id. Based on those factors, this Court concluded that there was a reasonable probability that "but for counsel's deficient performance ... the vote of one juror would have been different, ... resulting in a recommendation of life." Id.

ISSUE I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. WHITFIELD'S CLAIM DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE DURING THE GUILT PHASE OF HIS TRIAL FOR FAILING TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT A VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION DEFENSE TO THE OFFENSE OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER, BURGLARY AND ARMED SEXUAL BATTERY AND FOR FAILING TO HIRE A DEFENSE EXPERT IN THE FIELD OF TOXICOLOGY. .3

Of the questions that are before the American people, I regard no one as more important than the administration of justice. We must make it so that a poor [person] will have as nearly as possible an equal opportunity in litigating as the rich [person], and under present conditions, ashamed as we may be of it, that is not the fact. - President William Howard Taft.

Ernest Whitfield did not commit first degree murder. However, his lawyers, the judges and everyone in the criminal justice system either acted or failed to act in ways that

³ While the three substantive crimes were separate in the original motion to vacate, counsel has joined them together in Issue I for the sake of judicial economy as well as a claim of ineffectiveness for failing to hire a toxicologist. The evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing was for all three charges.

ensured his conviction and ultimate sentence of death. Ernest Whitfield is a very severe crack cocaine addict. He has been abusing drugs since the age of 15 and using cocaine as a child at 17. As a result of Mr. Whitfield's severe crack cocaine use, he has suffered serious brain damage. (PC-R 216) Mr. Whitfield did not commit first degree murder because he was unable to form the requisite intent due to his drug use.

The ineffectiveness of counsel during the appellant's guilt phase is outlined below. As recognized by this court, there was very little evidence disputing that Ms. Reynolds died and that Mr. Whitfield was responsible for her murder. There was no self-defense argument. No alibi defense. No defense of mistaken identity. Clearly, the only viable theory of defense from the beginning of the case focused on the defense of voluntary intoxication. Everything they gathered, all the evidence obtained, every expert retained was designed to present this affirmative defense. The result of their work is best illustrated during the exchange between Ms. Scott and Dr. Regnier regarding the only and ultimate issue of the case:

Q. [Ms. Scott] Now do you have an opinion, Doctor, based upon your background and your review of the Baker Act records, the Sarasota Memorial Hospital records, your conversations with the defendant, his sister, reading the sworn testimony of the witnesses who saw Mr. Whitfield immediately after the event, whether or not Mr. Whitfield could possess premeditated design to effect the murder of Ms.

Reynolds?

- A. Charlie Ann, this is one of those questions I really can't answer because I've been unable to get the kind of data from the defendant that I need to make such a determination. I can say from reviewing all of the records I've seen, that I have, I have a reasonable amount of doubt that he could have, but I don't know for sure.
- Q. Okay. And what other records would you have wanted?
- A. Well, I wanted to test the defendant with certain psychological instruments and have been unable to do so.⁴
- Q. If you had was it more likely that he was unable to have the premeditated design than unlikely?
- A. I would think that it's probably more that he was unlikely than likely. But again I don't know for sure.
- Ms. Scott: Thank you, I don't have any further questions.

(R. 12221-22)

The end result was no evidence for a defense of voluntary intoxication as testified by Mr. Whitfield's own court appointed expert.

During the evidentiary hearing, the appellant presented several witnesses. Two witnesses were recognized by the court as experts in their respective fields. The State presented no expert testimony.

The lower court, in it's order, denied the appellant's claim for several reasons. First, it found that the decision not to call his sister to corroborate the drug abuse evidence

⁴ Mr. Whitfield was tested by his current defense team.

was a strategic decision. (Order at 42) Defense counsel testified that they believed that the family members were "not good historians, were inarticulate, and the defense had concerns how they would testify when cross-examined." Id.

Dinah Giles testified at the evidentiary hearing. She was a very articulate and emotional witness. At one point during her testimony, the courtroom became quiet, the voices hushed as the sadness of her and her brother's family journey brought her to tears. The judge handed her a tissue and her story continued. The meaning of that episode was not lost on anyone present in the courtroom, especially since the defense had just testified prior that she would not make a "good" witness.

Dinah Michelle Giles, who is the younger sister of Ernest Whitfield, is 10 months younger than Mr. Whitfield and that her sibling group includes a total of 3 brothers and 2 sisters all a year apart (PC-R 349-50). Ms. Giles testified that Pam, Mr. Whitfield, and herself all have the same father but Pam has always lived with her godparents since she was a baby (PC-R 351). Ms. Giles testified that from her earliest memory she has always lived with her grandmother and her mother would stay back and forth with her boyfriend (PC-R 351). Her grandmother was their primary caretaker (PC-R 352). Ms. Giles could not recall a time when she moved with her mother to Sarasota leaving Mr.

Whitfield with their father (PC-R 352). Although she did recall when the children stayed with their mother for a short period of time before returning to live with their grandmother (PC-R 352). Ms. Giles testified that it was alright staying with her mother and her boyfriend but the guy she was with used to get drunk and he and her mother would always wind up fighting (PC-R 352). She also stated that while her mother's boyfriend was chasing her at night down the road, she would tell the kids to run with her because he would be chasing her to actually fist fight her (PC-R 352). Ms. Giles testified that sometimes he would catch her and he used to beat her real bad (PC-R 352). Ms. Giles testified that these events were ongoing while she and Ernest where 10 or 11 and that they were present during some of these beatings (PC-R 353). Ms. Giles further testified that the frequency of these beatings would happen every time they went over there on the weekends (PC-R 353). While the children were living with their grandmother, Mr. Whitfield's mother would come probably twice a week and then on the weekend to check on the children (PC-R 355).

Ms. Giles also testified regarding the relationship that Mr. Whitfield had with their father. Mr. Whitfield's father was verbally abusive to him (PC-R 354). When he would get upset he would threaten to knock Mr. Whitfield out or do this or that to

Mr. Whitfield (PC-R 354). Mr. Whitfield's father also threatened to take his pistol and blow his brains out (PC-R 354). Ms. Giles testified that these were regular occurrences during their weekend visits with their father (PC-R 355).

Ms. Giles further testified that while they were living with their grandmother, they attended school regularly, they had enough to eat, their clothing was appropriate and clean, and there was enough room in the house. Ms. Giles was then asked what changed things in your life? As Ms. Giles began to testify, she was visibly upset and crying as the court handed her a box of tissue when recalling the devastating impact on their lives with the passing of their grandmother. testified that "after their grandma died, it's like our whole life changed, it's like this stuff - - I can't say. It's like after my grandma had died, it's like our life had went down because it's like we was running here, here to there, to Leola, and it's like my mom was all about her boyfriends. So it's like the love and attention that we used to get, we didn't get it anymore. Q: And so your mom was not available to nurture you as children? A: Right" (PC-R 356). Ms. Giles recalls at one point she was with her mother and stepbrother and other times they were here to there with different family members, "it was like everywhere" (PC-R 357). She estimates that they lived at

more than five different places with various relatives for short periods of time after their grandmother died and with each move caused a change in schools (PC-R 357). Ms. Giles testified that during this time they were not able to maintain any type of regular school attendance (PC-R 358). While the children were moving from place to place, their mother was somewhere else (PC-R 359). Of the children, Ms. Giles testified that Pam and Riley had the most stable places to lived because they were living with their godparents and they were good godparents to them (PC-R 358).

Ms. Giles recalls that the children eventually came to live with their mother when they were teenagers, approximately 15 or 16 (PC-R 359). She went to live with her mother and her mother's boyfriend and she does not recall where Mr. Whitfield was staying at that time (PC-R 360). Ms. Giles recalls entering Mr. Atkins program because her mother was an alcoholic (PC-R 360). She would drink on a regular basis (PC-R 360). When the family entered Mr. Atkins' program, Ms. Giles testified that she and Leroy attended school regularly but Mr. Whitfield did not attend as much (PC-R 361). When asked if her mom was there and able to get them up for school every day or do something about Ernest not attending school, Ms. Giles testified that "at times she was there. But the majority of the time, by her not having

a washing machine, sometimes we really didn't have clothes to wear to school" (PC-R 361). Testifying from Defense exhibit C, Ms. Giles noted the apartment where they used to live for a few years (PC-R 362, 363). She describes the home as "little, two bedroom, kind of small inside, and it wasn't a nice place, it was just somewhere" (PC-R 362). Ms. Giles testified that they did not have nice housing while staying with their mother (PC-R 362). Ms. Giles recalls that while staying with her mother they would have to go to Coins where there mother was having drinks. If there was something they wanted they had to go where she was (PC-R 365).

Ms. Giles further testified that prior to 1995 she was aware that her brother used drugs (PC-R 367). "He wasn't hisself anymore because it's like I noticed things had changed about him. [H]e'll go off and stay for a couple of days and when he'd come back his were a little glossy and he'll look dirty and he'll be smelling, and he just wasn't the type person because he's always stayed neat and clean" (PC-R 367-8). "His whole personality had changed. He wasn't the same person anymore" (PC-R 368). Ms. Giles testified that when Mr. Whitfield would come with glossy eyes, dirty, and not neat he would take a bath, go in the room and sleep the rest of the day and get up and watch TV. He would stay home for a couple of days and then he

would be gone again" (PC-R 368). During these times, Mr. Whitfield was not able to maintain a job (PC-R 368).

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