IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERNEST WHITFIELD,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-651 Lower Tribunal No. 95-1588 CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910

Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(V10/R1686)(e.s.)

Finally, in conclusion, defense counsel emphatically reiterated,

. . . I'm asking you to choose life in prison without the possibility of parole and the emphasis,

because you should be concerned, that society should be protected, of course, you should be. This guarantees it. This guarantees it.

You should be concerned that Ernest should be punished. This guarantees it. He's never getting out of prison. This man, if you choose, is going to die in prison.

* * * (V10/1690-1692)(e.s.)

Shortly thereafter, following closely on the heels of defense counsel's closing, the trial court instructed the jury:

The fact that the determination of whether you recommend a sentence of death or sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole in this case can be reached by a single ballot should not influence you to act hastily or without due regard to the gravity of these proceedings. Before you ballot you should carefully weigh, sift and consider the evidence, and all of it, realizing that human life is at stake, and bring to bear your best judgment in reaching your advisory sentence.

If a majority of the jury determine that Ernest Whitfield should be sentenced to death, your advisory sentence will be:

A majority of the jury, by a vote of, and you will insert the numerical vote, advise and recommend to the court that it impose the death penalty upon Ernest Whitfield.

On the other hand, if by six or more votes the jury determines that Ernest Whitfield should not be sentenced to death, your advisory sentence will be:

The jury advises and recommends to the court that it impose a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole upon Ernest Whitfield.

$$(V10/1698-1699)(e.s.)$$

Finally, in response to the jury's question during their deliberations, the trial court reread the standard instruction

and informed the jurors, once again,

THE COURT: Just take any seat, folks. I'm just going to answer your question best I can. Folks, I'm going to reread what I read to you earlier, you don't have this, before we began the penalty phase.

The punishment for this crime is either death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. The final decision as to what punishment shall be imposed rests solely with the Judge of this court. However, the law requires that you, the jury, render to this Court an advisory sentence as to what punishment should be imposed upon the defendant. I will place great weight upon your advisory opinion. .

(V10/1708-1709)(e.s.)

Future dangerousness is not a statutory aggravating factor in Florida; and, in this case, the trial judge instructed the jury that it was limited to considering only the [three statutory] listed aggravators⁵³ (V10/1696-1697); and the jury was repeatedly informed that the penalty in this case was "either death or life in prison without the possibility of parole." (V10/1524-1525; 1674-1675; 1686; 1690-1692; 1698-1699; 1708-1709). As the foregoing excerpts confirm, the postconviction order is supported by competent, substantial evidence, the Circuit Court correctly applied this Court's precedent to the

⁵³The three statutory aggravating factors are: (1) prior violent felonies (two prior aggravated batteries and contemporaneous sexual battery of another victim in this case); (2) commission in the course of a burglary; and (3) that the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Whitfield, 706 So. 2d at 3.

facts of this case; and, therefore, postconviction relief was properly denied on the defendant's IAC/Simmons claim.

ISSUE V

THE "IAC"/PROSECUTORIAL COMMENTS CLAIM

Whitfield's two-page argument on this issue summarily concludes that objectionable evidence was introduced [somewhere] during the examination of the investigating officers and Dr. Regnier. Notably, Whitfield has not provided any citations to the record in order to identify his particular complaints, and he has not cited a single case to ostensibly support his conclusory allegations. (See, Amended Brief of Appellant at 94-95). The State respectfully submits that summarily reiterating arguments which were rejected below does not suffice to preserve issues and, therefore, this claim is waived. See, Cooper v. <u>State</u>, 856 So. 2d 969, 977, n. 7 (Fla. 2003); <u>Sweet v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 2002); Randolph v. State, 853 So. 2d 1051, 1063, n. 12 (Fla. 2003) (reiterating that "[m]erely making references to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.")

Assuming, arguendo, that Whitfield has fairly presented this issue on appeal, which the State does not concede and specifically disputes, Whitfield apparently consolidates

postconviction claims #13, 14, and 15 which were presented below. Postconviction claims 13 and 14 alleged ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to object to the introduction of testimony that Whitfield committed his crimes in the presence of children and against women. According to Whitfield, this testimony constituted nonstatutory aggravation. Postconviction claim 15 alleged that the prosecutor's arguments during the penalty phase were inflammatory and improper. On direct appeal, this Court summarized the relevant evidence presented at trial, specifically noting:

. . . in the early morning hours of June 19, 1995, Whitfield attempted to get Willie Mae Brooks to let him in Reynolds' house. Brooks refused and went back to sleep in the bed she shared with her one-year-old Whitfield subsequently unlawfully entered Armed with an eight-inch knife, he Reynolds' home. entered the bedroom in which Brooks was sleeping and raped Brooks, indicating that he would stab her and her child if she screamed. Whitfield then went into a different room where Reynolds and her five children were located. About ten minutes later, Reynolds stumbled into Brooks's room and asked her to lock the door. She was bleeding profusely from her wounds and told Brooks that she was dying and that Ernest had stabbed her. Brooks and one of Reynolds' children, a twelve-year-old, climbed out the window and ran to a neighbor's house to call police. Whitfield fled the scene. Reynolds died shortly after police arrived. Whitfield, 706 So. 2d at 2. (e.s.)

On direct appeal, this Court also noted that during both of

⁵⁴At page 94 of his amended brief, fn. 20, Whitfield simply states "consolidated claims."

the prior aggravated batteries, Whitfield threatened to kill the [female] victims if they called police. <u>Id</u>., 706 So. 2d at 2. In denying postconviction claims 13 and 14, which alleged ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase in failing to object to the State's use of alleged non-statutory aggravators (that Whitfield committed his crimes in the presence of children and against women), the Circuit Court found a procedural bar and also determined that the prosecutor's actions at trial were entirely appropriate. As the Circuit Court explained,

Claims Thirteen and Fourteen

Claims thirteen and fourteen allege ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase for failing to object to the State's use of non-statutory aggravators that Whitfield committed his crimes in the presence of children and against women.

Initially, the Court finds that these claims are procedurally barred. See Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 1998). Further, review of applicable Florida law reveals that at a penalty phase, it is not only permissible, but is appropriate for a prosecutor to introduce details of a defendant's prior violent felony convictions, so that the jury may better evaluate the character of the defendant and circumstances of the crimes. See Hudson v. State, 708 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1998); Waterhouse v. State, 596 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1992); Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989). These claims are denied.

In first applying a procedural bar, the Circuit Court correctly relied on this Court's decision in <u>Valle v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1335-1336 (Fla. 1998). In <u>Valle</u>, this Court agreed

that the trial court correctly found several claims in Valle's motion were procedurally barred, including the defendant's claim that trial counsel was ineffective in permitting the State to introduce nonstatutory aggravating factors. Valle, 705 So. 2d at 1336; See also, Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917, 921 (Fla. 2001), citing Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So. 2d 452, 453-454 (Fla. 1993) (whether the trial court impermissibly relied upon nonstatutory aggravation is procedurally barred in 3.850 proceedings because it could have been raised on direct appeal); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 915 (Fla. 2000) (defendant may not relitigate procedurally barred claims by couching them in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel).

Moreover, the circumstances of the underlying crimes charged do not constitute nonstatutory aggravation, and, therefore, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective under Strickland for failing to object. See, Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1023 (Fla. 1999). Likewise, the circumstances of the Defendant's prior violent felony offenses do not constitute nonstatutory aggravation. See, Hudson v. State, 708 So. 2d 256, 261 (Fla. 1998) (agreeing that "[i]t is appropriate during penalty proceedings to introduce details of a prior violent felony conviction rather than the bare admission of the conviction in order to assist the jury in evaluating the

character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime.")

In this case, the Circuit Court also found that Whitfield was not entitled to postconviction relief on claims #13 and 14 because, in Florida, it is "appropriate for a prosecutor to introduce details of a defendant's prior violent felony convictions, so that the jury may better evaluate the character of the defendant and circumstances of the crimes." Again, the Circuit Court correctly applied this Court's well-established precedent. <u>Id.</u>, citing, <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1998); <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1992); <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989). After the Circuit Court rendered its order below, this Court, in <u>Power v. State</u>, 886 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 2004), reiterated,

. . . "details of prior violent felony convictions involving the use or threat of violence to the victim are admissible in the penalty phase of a capital trial." <u>Id</u>., citing <u>Lockhart v. State</u>, 655 So. 2d 69, (Fla. 1995). "Such testimony helps determine whether 'the ultimate penalty is called for in his or her particular case. Propensity to commit violent crimes surely must be a valid consideration for the judge and jury.'" Id. (quoting Elledge v. State, 346 So. 2d 998, 1001 (Fla. 1977)). We find no abuse of discretion has been demonstrated in the trial court's decision to allow this testimony. To the extent that this testimony helped the jury consider Power's propensity to commit crimes, particularly violent crimes, the challenged testimonies were properly admitted. . . .

<u>Power</u>, 886 So. 2d at 964.

In this case, the prosecutor's penalty phase argument

permissibly focused on statutory aggravating factor of Whitfield's prior violent felony convictions: Exhibit 35, the conviction for throwing a missile into a motor vehicle; Exhibit 36, the aggravated battery conviction on Harriett Whitfield; and Exhibit 37, the aggravated battery on Tonya Kirce. As the State maintained on direct appeal, the fact that Whitfield has chosen women as the targets of his violent criminal offenses cannot be visited upon the State -- only upon the defendant.

Whitfield apparently now concludes that the State should have been required to sanitize the facts of Whitfield's violent crimes and, perhaps, limit its argument to little more than, Ernest Whitfield entered Claretha Reynolds' home on June 19, 1995, and then she died. However, during the postconviction hearing, trial counsel Williams agreed that the prosecutor's comments concerning the facts of Whitfield's crimes would not have been objectionable at trial. Likewise, any comments concerning the relevant facts of Whitfield's prior convictions established during the penalty phase would not have been objectionable. In light of trial counsel's confirmation concerning a matter of trial tactics (i.e., a decision not to object based on his belief that a particular comment was unobjectionable), Whitfield cannot establish any deficiency of

counsel and resulting prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. See, <u>Zakrzewski v. State</u>, 866 So. 2d 688, 692-693 (Fla. 2003) citing, inter alia, <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 508, 511 (Fla. 1992) ("The decision not to object is a tactical one.").

Lastly, in denying postconviction claim 15, which alleged that the prosecutor's arguments at the penalty phase were inflammatory and improper, the Circuit Court found that Whitfield's claim was procedurally barred because,

Claim fifteen alleges that Whitfield was denied a fair, reliable, and individualized capital sentencing proceeding because the prosecutor's arguments at the penalty phase were inflammatory and improper. The Court determines that this claim is procedurally barred because the Florida Supreme Court addressed this issue on direct appeal, and held that any errors made at trial were not fundamental. See Whitfield v. State, 706 So. 2d 1, 4-5 (Fla. 1998); See also Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 1998). Claim fifteen is denied.

(PCR-V5/881)(e.s.)

On direct appeal, this Court found that any unpreserved comments, even if error, did not constitute fundamental error.

As this Court explained on direct appeal,

In his third issue, Whitfield raises a number of claims in which he asserts that the prosecutor introduced irrelevant evidence or engaged in improper argument during the penalty phase. [n6]⁵⁵ The majority

⁵⁵On direct appeal, Whitfield argued that "evidence of the sentences he received for prior violent felony convictions was improperly admitted and emphasized; that hearsay evidence that Whitfield threatened to kill the victims of the two prior aggravated batteries was improperly admitted; that the

of these claims were not properly preserved for review and we do not find the errors, if any, to be fundamental. Upon reviewing the record, we conclude that those claims that were properly preserved did not constitute error when read in context or were harmless, even when considered cumulatively. . .

Whitfield, 706 So. 2d at 5 [citations omitted].

The principle is well-settled that claims which were raised on direct appeal or which could have been raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a postconviction motion to vacate. See, Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1994); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 919 (Fla. 2000). The trial court's comprehensive written order is supported by

ISSUE VI

competent substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

THE "IAC"/AKE v. OKLAHOMA CLAIM

In his final issue, Whitfield asserts a hybrid IAC/<u>Ake</u> claim [<u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S. 68 (1985)], alleging that trial counsel failed to "provide the necessary time and information to the mental health expert." (See, Amended Brief of Appellant at 95).

prosecutor wrongfully injected information in cross-examining the defense psychologist regarding Whitfield's community control; that the prosecutor wrongfully elicited information regarding remorse; that the prosecutor engaged in an improper "golden rule" argument; and that the prosecutor made gender-biased comments to sway the ten women jurors to vote for a death sentence in this case." See, Whitfield, 706 So. 2d at 5,fn. 6.

To the extent that Whitfield arguably is asserting a true Ake claim, that claim is procedurally barred. See, Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199, 203, n. 4 (Fla. 2002) (affirming summary denial of an Ake claim in post-conviction motion because Ake claims should be raised on direct appeal and therefore, are procedurally barred in post-conviction litigation); See also, Marshall v. State, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1248 (Fla. 2003) ("Within his claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, Marshall also alleges that he was deprived of his right to an evaluation by a competent mental health expert pursuant to Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 84 L. Ed. 2d 53, 105 S. Ct. 1087 (1985). This claim is procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal." Id., citing Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1047 2000) ("[T]he claim of incompetent mental health evaluation is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal.").

In denying postconviction relief, the Circuit Court found that Whitfield's current complaints were directly attributable to Whitfield's own refusal to cooperate and his intransigence at trial. As the Circuit Court explained,

Claim Sixteen

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